STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Certiorari to Sumter County

George C. James, Circuit Court Judge

NATHANIEL BRADLEY,

PETITIONER

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2018-001121

BRIEF OF PETITIONER

SUSAN B. HACKETT
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

RECEIVED
Jul 13 2022
SC Court of Appeals

ISSUES PRESENTED

- I. Did trial counsel provide ineffective assistance in derogation of the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments by calling Petitioner's brother to testify who harmed Petitioner's alibi defense by contradicting a prior alibi witness and by stating Petitioner was aware of the death prior to the police finding the body?
- II. Did trial counsel violate Petitioner's Sixth and Fourteenth right to the effective assistance of counsel by failing to present a telecommunications expert to use the cell phone records to support Petitioner's alibi defense?
- III. Did trial counsel violate Petitioner's Sixth and Fourteenth right to the effective assistance of counsel by failing to present an arson expert to establish a timeline for when the car was set afire to enable Petitioner to defeat the testimony of Koenig, the state's only eyewitness?

STATEMENT

In May 2005, Ernest James was in a romantic relationship with Martha Ransom. App. 153, l. 24 – App. 154, l. 11; App. 171, ll. 10-18; App. 182, ll. 14-19; App. 199, ll. 2-4. Also during that time, James and Petitioner were “very close friends.” App. 154, l. 23 – App. 155, l. 2; App. 200, ll. 3-5; App. 372, ll. 2-5; App. 563, ll. 11-15.

On May 21, 2005, Leonard McCray, James’ brother, saw Petitioner at a nightclub in Rembert. App. 155, l. 22 – App. 156, l. 17. Petitioner was with another man. App. 156, l. 18 – App. 157, l. 5. McCray told Petitioner that James was at their family home. App. 156, ll. 18-20. Thereafter, Petitioner and his friend left the club in Petitioner’s blue Chevrolet Beretta. App. 157, ll. 8-23; see also App. 208, ll. 1-9. Petitioner and his friend arrived at the home where James and Ransom were living. App. 183, ll. 1-11; App. 207, ll. 10-16. James walked out of the house, and James and Petitioner talked outside. App. 184, l. 22 – App. 185, l. 3; App. 207, ll. 16-21. Petitioner and his friend drove away. App. 186, ll. 1-3. James then left, driving Ransom’s car, a blue Volvo. App. 185, ll. 8-16; App. 208, l. 25 – App. 209, l. 5.

Petitioner’s girlfriend’s daughter attended her prom on May 21, 2005. App. 837, l. 3 – App. 838, l. 4. Petitioner took her to get her hair done at a beauty shop in downtown Sumter in anticipation for the big event. App. 839, ll. 3-19. When she was finished, Petitioner picked her up from the shop sometime between 6:30 and 7. App. 839, l. 24 – App. 840, l. 2; App. 854, ll. 1-5 (phone records showing 7:37 p.m.). Afterward, she and Petitioner went to the home of Paul, Petitioner’s brother, to get some money. App. 840, ll. 11-15; App. 931, l. 16 – App. 932, l. 11; App. 933, ll. 8-15. The pair then went to Food Lion to buy a camera for her to use at prom. App. 840, ll. 12-15. They returned to her grandmother’s house so she could get dressed for prom. App. 842, ll. 2-5; App. 856, ll. 12-21. Petitioner was at the grandmother’s house in South

Forge Apartments when the daughter left at 8:30 p.m., and he was there when she returned at 1:30 a.m. App. 842, ll. 12-22. According to the grandmother, Petitioner stayed at her apartment with her from the time the daughter left until she returned. App. 857, ll. 15-20. Petitioner allowed the daughter's friend to drive his car – the blue Beretta – to prom. App. 842, l. 10 – App. 843, l. 1; App. 857, ll. 13-14.

Matt Bramlett lived “directly across” from Broad Branch Cemetery in Bishopville. App. 453, l. 23 – App. 454, l. 2; App. 457, ll. 2-13. During the early morning hours of May 22, 2005, his dog woke him up, barking at one spot in the corner of his lot toward the cemetery. App. 454, ll. 3-10; App. 455, ll. 2-11; App. 457, ll. 17-25. More specifically, Bramlett explained the dog was barking between midnight and 1:30 a.m. App. 459, ll. 14-19. The dog barked between forty and fifty minutes. App. 454, ll. 7-15; App. 455, ll. 12-17.

On Sunday morning, Petitioner stopped to visit his friend, Calvin Davis, Jr., in Bishopville. App. 862, ll. 17-18; App. 865, ll. 1-8; App. 866, ll. 21-24. When Petitioner left, he indicated he was going to get some paint so he could paint another friend's home. App. 869, ll. 5-16.

Thomas McCutchen lived “on the adjacent side of Broad Branch from the cemetery.” App. 348, ll. 16-23. His house was approximately one-fourth of a mile from the cemetery. App. 348, l. 24 – App. 349, l. 1. During the afternoon on May 22, 2005, McCutchen was riding his golf cart around his property. App. 349, ll. 2-7; App. 351, ll. 9-24; see also App. 358, ll. 6-11; App. 360, ll. 6-13 (officer received the call for the car at 3:35 p.m.). He found “[a] car that had been burned.” App. 349, ll. 8-11. The car was no longer burning when he found it. App. 349, ll. 12-13. McCutchen did not see any smoke or fire when he found the car. App. 353, ll. 5-8.

The officer who responded to McCutchen's call about the car reported that it "appeared to be recently burned" and that it "appeared to be a mid 80's model Volvo." App. 361, ll. 17-21. It was a 240DL model. App. 363, ll. 5-7. The car was "burnt completely up" "inside and out." App. 365, l. 23. "[E]ven the tires were burnt off of it." App. 365, ll. 24-25. "[A]ll the interior was completely burned, dash burned, everything was burned away." App. 366, ll. 1-2. The police used the partial VIN to match it to the blue Volvo owned by Ransom in which James was last seen driving away from her home. App. 701, ll. 3-10.

According to Robert Jones, Petitioner arrived at the house he was building in Sumter after noon on Sunday, May 22, 2005. App. 885, ll. 5-13; App. 887, ll. 5-10; see also App. 892, ll. 4-17. Petitioner worked for Donnie Hawkins who was the builder of the home. App. 884, ll. 8-25. Petitioner looked around the home for approximately forty-five minutes. App. 887, ll. 18-23. Additionally, Petitioner went to visit his friend Cody Kind in Sumter on Sunday afternoon. App. 922, ll. 17-22. Kind and Petitioner watched Kind's son and his friends play basketball for several hours. App. 926, l. 22 – App. 927, l. 25.

On Monday, May 23, 2005, around 10 a.m., Petitioner went to the home of Tina Leon in Sumter to paint the trim around her windows. App. 901, ll. 11-24; App. 909, ll. 19-23; App. 910, ll. 1-7. Leon provided lunch for Petitioner from a nearby fast food restaurant. App. 904, ll. 20-25. Petitioner left around 4 p.m. App. 905, ll. 9-13; App. 905, ll. 22-24; App. 911, ll. 1-4.

Also on May 23, 2005, Walter Lundberg was fishing on Boyle's Pond in Sumter. App. 104, ll. 8-10. He spotted a body in the water and called 911 for help. App. 104, ll. 14-25. The police removed the body from the water. App. 113, ll. 12-25; App. 122, l. 23 – App. 123, l. 2. The police found a wallet in the pocket of the short pants on the body. App. 671, ll. 13-16. Inside the wallet, there was an identification card, which the police used to identify the body as

that of Ernest James. App. 671, ll. 16-19. Thereafter, the police learned that Petitioner was one of the last people to see James alive. App. 682, ll. 2-15. The police then began investigating Petitioner. App. 682, l. 25 – App. 683, l. 12.

On May 24, 2005, Daniel Simon with the Lee County Sheriff's Office read in the newspaper that the Sumter County Sherriff was looking for a Volvo. App. 492, ll. 10-25; App. 493, ll. 14-16. As a result, Simon contacted the Sumter County Sherriff about the burned car found across from the cemetery. App. 493, ll. 2-6; App. 493, ll. 17-23; App. 690, l. 16 – App. 691, l. 9.

The pathologist performed the autopsy on the body on May 24, 2005. App. 408, ll. 8-10. According to the pathologist, the deceased suffered three gunshot wounds, one of which caused his death. App. 411, ll. 21-22; App. 435, ll. 17-22. He recovered two bullets from the body. App. 422, ll. 10-12. Additionally, he found signs of decomposition. App. 432, l. 18 – App. 433, l. 19. However, the pathologist was unable to determine the exact time of death. App. 434, ll. 9-14. The pathologist explained that he put the date of death as May 23, 2005, based upon information he received from the coroner, and not information gleaned from the autopsy. App. 438, l. 4 – App. 441, l. 18. Later, the coroner contacted the pathologist requesting he change his report to indicate the date of death was May 22, 2005. App. 441, l. 23 – App. 442, l. 3. Therefore, on the final autopsy report, the pathologist indicated the date of death was May 22, 2005. App. 443, ll. 5-14. The pathologist explained that the deceased could have died anytime between May 21 and May 23. App. 446, ll. 10-23.

On January 3, 2008, a Sumter County grand jury indicted Petitioner for murder of Ernest James and possession of a firearm during the commission of a violent crime (2007-GS-43-390).

App. 1826-1827. The state, represented by Catherine Fant, called the case to trial before the Honorable R. Ferrell Cothran, Jr. App. 1. Ernest Finney represented Petitioner. App. 1.

During the trial, the lead investigator explained he did not have any eyewitness who saw Petitioner kill the deceased. App. 729, ll. 14-16. No one saw Petitioner with a gun. App. 729, ll. 17-18. There was no evidence from the scene or from the body of the deceased to indicate Petitioner killed him. App. 729, ll. 19-21. The investigator could not tell the jury “a precise date” when the deceased died.” App. 729, ll. 22-23. He could not even tell the jury what county in which the deceased died. App. 729, ll. 24-25.

Ultimately, the jury found Petitioner guilty of murder, but not guilty of possession of a weapon. App. 1065, l. 21 – App. 1066, l. 4. Judge Cothran sentenced Petitioner to thirty years incarceration. App. 1079, ll. 7-10; App. 1828.

Petitioner filed a notice of appeal, which was perfected by Joseph L. Savitz, III. App. 1081-1090. On appeal, Petitioner challenged the trial judge’s erroneous refusal to grant a directed verdict of acquittal. App. 1081-1090. On November 8, 2010, this Court affirmed Petitioner’s conviction and sentence in an unpublished opinion. State v. Bradley, 2010-UP-494 (S.C. Ct. App. filed Nov. 8, 2010); App. 1122-1123. Subsequently, Petitioner filed for rehearing. App. 1124-1125. On December 30, 2010, this Court denied the petition for rehearing. App. 1126. Thereafter, Petitioner, represented by Tristan M. Shaffer, filed a petition for writ of certiorari asking the Supreme Court to review his case. App. 1127-1139. The Court denied the writ on June 21, 2012. App. 1170. Remittitur was issued on July 5, 2012. App. 1171.

On July 27, 2012, Petitioner filed an application for post-conviction relief (PCR). App. 1172-1178. On September 19, 2013, Petitioner filed an amendment to his application for PCR. App. 1184. Thereafter, on April 9, 2015, Petitioner filed a second amendment to his application

for PCR. Supp. App. 1-4. On April 15, 2015 and July 5, 2016, the Honorable George C. James, Jr., convened an evidentiary hearing regarding Petitioner's application. App. 1185. Daniel F. Gourley and Julie Amanda Coleman represented the state, and Bradley Myers Kirkland represented Petitioner. App. 1185. By an order filed September 5, 2017, Judge James denied relief to Petitioner. App. 1745-1790. On September 22, 2017, Petitioner filed a motion to alter or amend the judgment. App. 1791-1824. On May 15, 2018, Judge James denied the motion. App. 1825.

After receiving written notice of the order on May 21, 2018, Petitioner served his notice of appeal on June 15, 2018. Petitioner filed a petition for writ of certiorari on March 12, 2019, raising seven issues. The state filed its return on June 4, 2019. By an order dated June 17, 2019, the Supreme Court transferred the case to this Court pursuant to Rule 243(l), SCACR. On April 15, 2022, this Court granted certiorari as to Questions 2, 3, and 4, and ordered briefing. Petitioner now files this brief.¹

¹ For ease of reference, Petitioner has re-numbered the issues presented so that Questions 2, 3, and 4 are now Questions 1, 2, and 3 respectively.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The standard of review in PCR cases depends on the specific issue raised on appeal. Smalls v. State, 422 S.C. 174, 810 S.E.2d 836, 839–40 (2018). The reviewing court must defer to a PCR court’s findings of fact and will uphold them if there is evidence in the record to support them. Id. (citing Sellner v. State, 416 S.C. 606, 610, 787 S.E.2d 525, 527 (2016)). However, the appellate court reviews questions of law de novo, with no deference to the PCR court. Id.

ARGUMENT

I. Trial counsel provided ineffective assistance in derogation of the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments by calling Petitioner's brother to testify who harmed Petitioner's alibi defense by contradicting a prior alibi witness and by stating Petitioner was aware of the death prior to the police finding the body.

Relevant facts

Petitioner defended against the charges by presenting an alibi. In light of the state's inability to pinpoint when or where the deceased was killed, Petitioner presented numerous witnesses who testified regarding Petitioner's whereabouts between May 21, 2005, and May 23, 2005 – the last time James was seen alive and when his body was found. One of the witnesses presented was Paul Bradley, Petitioner's brother. App. 930, ll. 20-22. Paul claimed he saw Petitioner on Monday, May 23, 2005. App. 933, ll. 23-25. He claimed Petitioner went to him about 1 p.m. crying because his friend had been killed. App. 934, ll. 1-5. This testimony *directly contradicted* the testimony of Tina Leon and Terrell Johnston who said Petitioner was at a painting job on Monday from 10 a.m. until 4 p.m. App. 901, ll. 11-24; App. 905, ll. 9-13; App. 905, ll. 22-24; App. 909, ll. 19-23; App. 910, ll. 1-7; App. 911, ll. 1-4.

The solicitor seized on defense counsel's error in closing. According to the solicitor, Paul "provided one of the most important pieces of evidence in this case." App. 1034, ll. 19-21. She even noted that it was defense counsel, not her, who asked Paul what time it was on Monday afternoon when Petitioner was crying about his friend's death. App. 1034, ll. 21-23. The solicitor explained that Paul claimed Petitioner was upset at 1:00 in the afternoon, but the body was not found until 1:45 p.m. App. 1034, l. 24 – App. 1035, l. 1.

Trial counsel called Paul as a witness because he “was the leader of the family,” “an older gentleman,” “very stable,” and the man who “hired” trial counsel. App. 1471, ll. 7-10. He showed the jury “that the Bradley family was a solid family.” App. 1471, ll. 10-12. Trial counsel claimed he was unaware that Paul “was going to testify that [Petitioner] sa[id] that he was dead before the police got there.” App. 1472, ll. 7-10. When questioned about the impact of Paul’s testimony that Petitioner knew of James’ death prior to the police finding his body, trial counsel refused to admit the testimony from “this outstanding pillar of the community virtually destroyed [the] case” because trial counsel understood Paul to be testifying to an “estimation of time.” App. 1519, ll. 4-10. Trial counsel admitted he did not know Paul would estimate the time as 1 pm, and that if he knew Paul would testify accordingly, he would *not* have called Paul as a witness. App. 1520, ll. 6-11.

The PCR judge rejected Petitioner’s claim, finding that Paul testified to an estimated time of “around 1:00.” App. 1777. According to the PCR judge, Petitioner “ignore[d] the reality that time-of-day estimates are just that – estimates.” App. 1777. Ultimately, the judge found trial counsel’s calling of Paul was not deficient, and even if it were deficient, then the content of his testimony “did not likely play an important part in the jury finding [Petitioner] guilty.” App. 1777.

Discussion

The Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution guarantees criminal defendants the right to the effective assistance of counsel. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984). “The benchmark for judging any claim of ineffectiveness must be whether counsel’s conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that the trial cannot be relied on as having produced a just result.” Id. at 686. To prove ineffective assistance of counsel, “the

defendant must show that counsel's performance was deficient" and "that the deficient performance prejudiced the defense." Id. Thus, in a PCR action, the applicant must prove by a preponderance of the evidence that (1) counsel's performance was deficient under prevailing professional norms and (2) there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's errors, the result of the trial would have been different. Id. at 695.

The South Carolina Supreme Court granted relief to Ingle where his trial counsel called a witness to the stand without interviewing her. Ingle v. State, 348 S.C. 467, 471, 560 S.E.2d 401, 403 (2002). Ingle was charged with criminal sexual conduct of a minor. Id. at 470, 560 S.E.2d at 402. The minor was the daughter of Ingle's girlfriend, Jean Afify. Id. At trial, Ingle denied molesting Afify's daughter and claimed his semen was transferred to her shorts because she sat on the bed he shared with Afify shortly after the two had sex. Id. at 470, 560 S.E.2d at 402-403. Ingle's counsel called Afify as his first witness and asked if she and Ingle had sex the morning daughter alleged she was molested. Id. at 471, 560 S.E.2d at 403. Afify denied having sex with Ingle that morning. Id.

Ingle's counsel admitted he did not interview Afify prior to calling her as a witness. Id. Ingle's counsel claimed "he relied solely on [Ingle] who had 'convinced' him Afify was honest and would admit to having intercourse with [Ingle] on the morning of the alleged assault." Id. He also "presumed her testimony would be favorable to [Ingle]" because the state did not call her as a witness. Id.

The Supreme Court held Ingle's counsel "clearly was deficient in presenting Afify as a defense witness without first interviewing Afify to ascertain whether she would support [Ingle]'s theory of the defense." Id. Further, the Court held Ingle's counsel's reliance on Ingle's assertions that Afify would be honest and his assumption her testimony would be favorable

based on the state not calling her did “not amount to reasonable strategy for calling Afify.” Id. The Court held “it was objectively unreasonable for counsel to ask such a crucial question of the sexual assault victim’s mother without first ascertaining her response.” Id.

Furthermore, the Supreme Court held Ingle’s conduct was prejudicial. The Court observed that “Afify was **the first witness**” called in Ingles’ defense. Id. at 471, 560 S.E.2d 403 (emphasis in original). The Court also explained how “the state was able to capitalize on trial counsel’s error, and elicit additional damaging testimony on cross-examination.” Id. at 472, 560 S.E.2d at 403. According to the Court, “the effect of Afify’s testimony, which totally contradicted [Ingle]’s defense, was heightened by the fact that Afify was called as [Ingle]’s first witness.” Id. The Court decreed that “[i]t simply cannot be overstated how damaging Afify’s testimony was since it came in as part of what was supposed to be [Ingle]’s defense.” Id.

The Supreme Court also explained that Ingle’s theory of how the semen was transferred to daughter’s shorts from the bedsheets was not implausible, and, therefore, without Afify’s denial that they had sexual intercourse on the morning in question, reasonable doubt could have been established. Id. This was particularly true where other evidence called into question the credibility of daughter. Id. Ingle testified that daughter was angry with him for not buying her certain things, and that Afify did not report the alleged assault immediately after daughter informed her of it. Id. Instead, Afify waited ten days and only reported the allegation after a neighbor contacted DSS and after Afify’s Myrtle Beach vacation. Id. The Supreme Court held there was no probative evidence to support the PCR court’s finding that Ingle failed to establish prejudice from his counsel’s unreasonable strategy. Id. at 472, 560 S.E.2d at 403-404.

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