RECEIVED

Nov 14 2022

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

CERTIORARI TO SUMTER COUNTY

Court of Common Pleas
The Honorable George C. James, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2018-001121

NATHANIEL BRADLEY,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

Respondent.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

MEGAN HARRIGAN JAMESON
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

JOSHUA A. EDWARDS
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

I. The record supports the PCR court's finding that trial counsel provided effective assistance and that Bradley was not prejudiced by counsel's decision to call Paul Bradley as a witness at trial.

Bradley claims trial counsel was ineffective for calling his brother Paul as a witness at trial because Paul testified that on Monday, May 23, Bradley "came to [him] crying telling me that his friend got killed." (App.934). When asked when this occurred, Paul said it was "around 1:00 in the afternoon." (App.934). An officer estimated he received the call about James's body at around 1:00 or 2:00 Monday afternoon. (App.117). Bradley claims Paul's testimony caused him to be convicted because he should not have known about James's death before police did. He also alleges an inconsistency between Paul Bradley's testimony and the testimony of other witnesses who testified Bradley was working a painting job until approximately 4 or 5 p.m. that day. (App.905, 913). His claim is meritless because Paul Bradley's testimony that he spoke with Bradley "around 1:00 o'clock" was only an estimate based on his recollection at trial. There was no hard evidence establishing when the conversation actually took place. Contrary to Bradley's argument, the testimony of other witnesses placing Bradley's discovery of James's death later in the afternoon, mitigates, rather than exacerbates, Paul's testimony. On the whole, trial counsel provided competent representation and Bradley was not prejudiced by his decision to call Paul as a witness. This Court should affirm.

A. Counsel provided effective representation.

When a convicted defendant complains of the ineffectiveness of counsel's assistance, the defendant must show that counsel's representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness under the circumstances. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 687–88 (1984). Counsel has a duty to bring to bear such skill and knowledge as will render the trial a reliable adversarial testing process. Id. "Judicial scrutiny of counsel's performance must be highly deferential. It is all too tempting for a defendant to second-guess counsel's assistance after conviction or adverse sentence, and it is all too easy for a court, examining counsel's defense after it has proved unsuccessful, to conclude that a particular act or omission of counsel was unreasonable." Strickland, 466 U.S. at 689. "A fair assessment of attorney performance requires that every effort be made to eliminate the distorting effects of hindsight a court must indulge a strong presumption that counsel's conduct falls within the wide range of reasonable professional assistance" Id.

Trial counsel acted reasonably when he decided to call Paul Bradley as a witness. Paul offered some useful testimony. First, Paul testified Bradley was genuinely upset about James being killed. Second, Paul testified about their mother's burial site, which offered an explanation and corroboration for Bradley's statement to Donna McDuffie on the Thursday before the murder that he was at a graveyard cleaning his mother's grave. (App.237, 934–35). This may have helped to rebut any implication that Bradley was making preparations to dispose of James's car at the cemetery. Third, trial counsel believed Paul was a good witness because he was "stable" and would convey that Bradley came from a good family.

(App.1471). Paul showed that Bradley "wasn't walking around mad saying I'm going to get Ernest James" in the days surrounding the murder. (App.1471). Instead, he "was doing things with his family, and taking care of young people in his family." (App.1471). Paul corroborated Bradley's story about spending time with Tanisha Williams before and after she went to the prom on Saturday night. (App.932–33). This was the closest thing Bradley had to an alibi.

Overall, trial counsel's decision to call Paul as a witness and his examination was within the range of competence required by the Sixth Amendment. Defense lawyers cannot be expected to anticipate every faulty recollection a witness may offer at trial. While it is often a good idea for an attorney not to ask a question to which he does not know an answer, this is not universally true. The Sixth Amendment allows attorneys room to exercise reasonable professional judgment in a fluid trial settings, and does not judge competence through the benefit of hindsight. The constitution requires competence, it does not require perfection. See Yarrington v. Davies, 779 F.Supp. 1304, 1308 (D. Kan. 1991), aff'd, 992 F.2d 1077 (10th Cir. 1993) (the extent of examination and cross-examination of witnesses is an area of trial tactics left to the discretion of counsel); Sallie v. North Carolina, 587 F.2d 636, 640 (4th Cir. 1978) (courts should not second-guess trial counsel's decisions on questions of strategy as basic as handling of a witness).

B. Bradley was not prejudiced.

Even if this Court finds trial counsel was ineffective for not fully fleshing out Paul's likely responses to each potential question, Bradley was not prejudiced. Paul's testimony was not "incredibly damaging." Brief of Petitioner at 16. Paul

testified his brother told him about James on Monday afternoon and guessed it was "around 1:00 o'clock." All reasonable jurors know that people misremember times, especially when asked about it years later. Paul testified he talked to Bradley Monday afternoon and Bradley told him James was dead. This is consistent with defense witnesses Tina Leon and Terrell Johnston's testimony that Bradley found out about James's death on Monday afternoon, except that Leon and Johnston testified it occurred later in the afternoon. (App.905, 911).

Leon and Johnston's testimony generally mitigated Paul's mistake. Johnston testified that he was painting with Bradley throughout Monday afternoon, and that he was with Bradley when Bradley found out about James's death. (App.912–13). Johnston's testimony was much more detailed than Paul's, and he was in a better position to remember accurately when Bradley found out about James's death. Trial counsel further mitigated Paul's mistake in a follow-up question by emphasizing that Paul's testimony was based solely on his recollection of an event that happened two and a half years previously. (App.934, lines 6–7).

Paul Bradley's testimony did not affect Bradley's "alibi," and it did not reasonably affect the result of trial. Rather, it showed only that one witness had a faulty recollection about what time he talked to Bradley on the day after the murder. It had no bearing on Bradley's whereabouts when the murder was committed. No reasonable juror would have based his decision on this testimony. As a whole, trial counsel provided competent representation. The PCR court correctly found Paul's Bradley's mistaken recollection about what time he spoke

with Bradley on Monday afternoon did not reasonably affect the result of trial. (App.1777). Its finding is entitled to deference from this Court. See Smalls, 422 S.C. at 195, 810 S.E.2d at 847. This Court should affirm.

II. The record supports the PCR court's finding that trial counsel provided effective assistance and that Bradley was not prejudiced by counsel's decision not to present a telecommunications expert at trial.

Bradley alleges trial counsel was ineffective because he did not call a telecommunications expert to testify at trial. However, Bradley does not explain how retaining an expert would have changed his trial strategy in any way, how it would have made the phone records any more probative, or how retaining an expert would have affected the result of trial. Rather, he makes conclusory assertions that a "true expert" could have somehow explained the phone records in a better way and expects this Court to assume prejudice. The reality is that retaining an expert would not have changed the content of the phone records, would not have opened up any different arguments tending to show Bradley's innocence, would not have affected the State's arguments, and would not have changed the result of trial. This Court should affirm.

A. Counsel provided effective representation.

Trial counsel provided effective assistance when he introduced Bradley's cell phone records into evidence at trial, enabling him to make legitimate arguments that the records supported Bradley's version of events. Counsel used the records to argue that Bradley was not present at Boyle's Pond at 9:30 a.m. on Sunday, when Darrel Koenig estimated that he saw him there. The content of the records was apparent from the records themselves, and an expert would not have substantially enhanced their probative value. Introduction of the cell phone records was a valid

trial strategy that enabled trial counsel to make the best arguments available to him.

The Constitution did not require trial counsel to hire an expert to "explain" the records. Bradley was not a rich man, and trial counsel did not have infinite resources at his disposal. In fact, trial counsel had to request funds from the court, which he used to hire an investigator. (App.1459). Trial counsel did not have the luxury of calling expert for every conceivable issue, and the Constitution did not require him to do so. See Harrington v. Richter, 562 U.S. 86, 107 (2011) (explaining counsel was not ineffective for not calling a serology expert because "there were any number of hypothetical experts . . . whose insight might possibly been useful. An attorney can avoid activities that appear 'distractive from more important duties"). Attorneys are "entitled to formulate a strategy that was reasonable at the time and to balance limited resources in accord with effective trial tactics and strategies." Id.

This is especially true in this case because the records' probative value is apparent from the documents themselves. The records show the exact times Bradley's cell phone was used and from which towers. While Bradley complains that trial counsel should have called an expert such as Ben Levitan, who could have showed the jury "charts and maps" to illustrate the information, trial counsel did use maps to demonstrate the locations of the cell towers. Levitan's testimony added almost nothing of value to what trial counsel actually presented. The probative value of the phone records was apparent without any explanation from an expert witness. See Smith v. Angelone, 111 F.3d 1126, 1132 (4th Cir. 1997) (no deficiency

in decision not to call expert where trial counsel "reasonably chose to rely upon cross-examination of the State's own witnesses to establish his case"). The jury did not need to understand how cell phones work to understand the information contained in the records.

Counsel was able to explain based on the records themselves how he believed they supported his defense. He argued in closing that the records showed Bradley could not have been at Boyle's Pond at 9:30 a.m., when Koenig estimated he saw them there. (App.989). He also argued effectively that the State did not put the records into evidence because it did not want the jury to see them. (App.990). Expert testimony would not have enhanced these arguments, and it was within trial counsel's discretion not to devote his resources to a pointless, expensive expert witness.

B. Bradley was not prejudiced.

Even assuming counsel was somehow deficient by not hiring an expert to "explain the records," Bradley has not shown prejudice. First of all—contrary to Bradley's claims—the records did not provide him with an "alibi." They arguably corroborated his story about his whereabouts on Saturday night up until 8:06 p.m., and parts of Sunday and Monday. (App.1605–06). But this was far from an alibi because it did not account for his whereabouts when the crime almost certainly occurred: the early morning hours of Sunday, May 22. Bradley did not make any calls between 8:06 p.m. Saturday and 6:39 a.m. Sunday. (App.1605–06). Yet, Bradley continues to assert that expert analysis of the records would have

"established his alibi." Brief of Petitioner at 19. While the records had some value, they were not exculpatory and most certainly did not "establish his alibi."

Levitan's testimony had little probative value. It did not discredit Darrell Koenig's identification of Bradley. Levitan claimed Bradley's phone records showed he could not have been at Boyle's pond on Sunday morning at 9:30. After discussing the call logs, Levitan presented a map showing the location of towers 6471 and 6472, to which Bradley's phone connected several times on Sunday morning. (App.1283). Levitan concluded: "I'd say the phone between 8:34 and 10:32 was in this blue shaded area" near I-20 between Camden and Bishopville. (App.1285). In his powerpoint slide labeled "conclusions," Levitan claimed Bradley's phone was not near Boyle's Pond between between 9:30 and 10:15 on Sunday morning. (App.1579).

Looking past the fact that trial counsel made this exact same argument based on the exact same information, the claim that the records refuted Koenig's testimony has a gaping hole. There is a 50-minute gap in the calls from Bradley's phone on Sunday morning. The records show there were no calls between 8:45 (which connected to tower #6472 near the cemetery) and 9:34 (also tower #6472). (App.1065). Levitan explained Boyle's Pond was roughly 23 miles away from the "cloud" where he estimated Bradley's phone would have been when it made those calls. (App.1285). Bradley could easily have driven from the "zone" established by Levitan to Boyle's pond and back within that 49-minute period. Assuming a 25-minute drive each way, this would have put Bradley on Cobblestone road near

Boyle's Pond at around 9:10 a.m. Koenig estimated he saw Bradley at "around" 9:30 a.m., but was clear that this was only an estimate. If anything, this 49-minute gap strengthened the State's case, as it was the longest gap between any two calls Bradley made that morning. Levitan apparently did not even consider this possibility.

Similarly, Bradley claims that Levitan's testimony showed that "between the hours of 9:30 a.m. and 3:00 p.m. on the day the burnt Volvo was found, Petitioner's phone was nowhere near the cemetery." Brief of Petitioner at 19. This claim is also extremely dubious. Again, there is a 30-minute gap 9:52 a.m. and 10:24 a.m. where Bradley did not use his cell phone. (App.1605). The 9:52 and 10:34 calls connected to tower #6472, which is quite near the cemetery, and close to tower #6473, which Levitan claimed would have been the tower used by Bradley's cell phone if he had made a call from the cemetery. (App.1303, 1561, 1563). Bradley or his "partner" could easily have driven the car to the cemetery in that time frame.

Regardless, to the extent the records did cast doubt on Koenig's identification, an expert would not have strengthened Bradley's arguments. Trial counsel elicited this exact same information. (App.787–88). The call times and tower numbers were plain to see on the call records. The jury could read them themselves, and no expert testimony was needed. See United States v. Tarricone, 21 F.3d 474, 476 (2d Cir. 1993) (finding no prejudice from counsel's decision not to call handwriting expert where "the jury could, on its own, recognize that the handwriting" did not belong to defendant). Trial counsel got the police officer who

authenticated the records to admit that the records showed Bradley's phone was not used near Boyle's Pond at 9:30 and that Bradley "couldn't be at two places at one time." (App.788, lines 5–6). Expert testimony such as Levitan's would have added next to nothing to this argument.

Finally, presentation of an expert would not have changed the State's arguments. The State did not attempt to refute the records or counsel's arguments. In response to defense counsel's arguments related to the phone records, the State argued that the records had little value because they only showed the location of Bradley's phone, not Bradley's person. (App.1035). Likewise, Levitan admitted in his testimony that he "can't tell you who was on the phone obviously." (App.1248). The State's arguments would have been exactly the same even with Levitan's "charts and maps." See Washington v. Murray, 4 F.3d 1285, 1289–90 (4th Cir. 1993) (holding defendant was not prejudiced by trial counsel's decision not to hire forensic expert where "prosecution did not even introduce [disputed evidence], much less rely heavily on [it] as evidence").

Trial counsel effectively used Bradley's phone records to make legitimate arguments about weaknesses in the State's case. The probative value of the records was apparent in the records themselves, and expert testimony would have added nothing. Again, the PCR court's finding that Bradley was not prejudiced is entitled to deference from this Court. See Smalls, 422 S.C. at 195, 810 S.E.2d at 847. This Court should affirm.

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